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SUMMARY

The study area is located at the eastern end ofotineer Morpeth Branch Dock, in
Birkenhead on the Wirral (NGR SJ 32859 89426). Anpung station, built in the
1960s, is located towards the eastern end of MeBedanch Dock, east of which is an
open area of the former dock. The pumping stat®obeing decommissioned, which
would include infilling of this remaining part of &dpeth Branch Dock. Axis
commissioned Oxford Archaeology North to undertaekedesk-based study and
mitigative survey of the dock in advance of itsngebackfilled. It was recorded by
means of a laser scan survey ofi®2Z&nuary 2010, and the results are presented as 3D
isometric models of the structure, as well as plarsss-sections and elevations.

The Birkenhead docks were constructed on the Wall&ool, an area of deep water
running inland for two miles, and thus well-suifed harbouring ships. The first docks
to open were the Morpeth and Egerton Docks in 18471.866-68 Morpeth Dock was

extended to include the Morpeth Branch Dock, atikedly small dock accessed by a
channel from the main Morpeth Dock to the northiwes

The construction of the docks was central to theeldgpment of Birkenhead during the
nineteenth century, with industries such as floiltimg, tanning, the manufacture of

glue, suet and gelatine, iron-founding, engineeramgl steam wagon and tramcar
manufacture being established by the end of theteemth century.

The Birkenhead docks continued to thrive duringfitet part of the twentieth century,
and were the major port for the transfer of Amaricgrvicemen and various goods
during the First World War. The docks were badlyndged in the Second World War,
however, and required much reconstruction to keemtin business once the war was
over. A number of factors appear to have resultedhe decline of the use of the
Birkenhead docks in the second half of the twentie¢ntury, including industrial
disputes and the introduction of transport by coetaships, which both contributed to
ship owners finding alternative ports.

In the 1960s a pumping station was constructetieaeaistern end of Morpeth Branch
Dock, which was used for flood risk management. idmeainder of Morpeth Dock was
still in use until the 1990s, when it was largedgaonstructed, with the railway hub and
many of the warehouses which lined the wharvefi®fdock cleared. Whilst Morpeth
Dock survives as an area of open water, the MorBetimch Dock was infilled and
developed in the 1990s. The eastern end, easeqgiumping station is, therefore, the
only remaining area of exposed Branch Dock walls.

In 2000 the Birkenhead Waste Water Treatment WOANKA/TW), located immediately
upstream, was constructed, which has left the Mbrgeanch Dock pumping station
redundant. The survey was undertaken as mitigatiadvance of the backfilling of the
dock as part of the decommissioning of the pumgtiagion. The backfilling has been
undertaken with loose aggregate and the dock watlomry has been protected from
contact with any fill material, such as tarmact ttw@uld adhere to it.

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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1. INTRODUCTION

11
111

1.1.2

1.13

12
1.2.1

1.2.2

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

In the 1960s a pumping station was constructednatdastern end of the
nineteenth century Morpeth Branch Dock (NGR SJ 928%426; Fig 1). This
received flows from the land drainage and surfaatemsystem, as connected to
the river Birket and the Great Culvert (to the soat the dock), and provided
for their discharge either by gravity, via tidabfls, or, under tide-locked
conditions, via the pumping station into the Rivdersey. In 2000 the
Birkenhead Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW), tedaimmediately
upstream, was constructed. A proposal for deconiomsgy the Morpeth Dock
pumping station has, therefore, been made, asitherhead WWTW has left
the pumping station redundant.

The decommissioning would eliminate the risks aiséed with the continued
ownership and maintenance of the pumping statidve preferred option for
decommissioning is for the demolition of the pungpstation, electricity sub-
station and double-garage, and the subsequentnigfitf the pumping station
area and the eastern end of the Morpeth Branch Dmbich is presently dry).
The Great Culvert diversion, incorporating a titlap chamber with flap valves
and culvert to the River Mersey, would remairsitu and continue to operate,
So as to protect the Birkenhead WWTW from flooding.

Planning permission and Listed Building Consent wasuired for the
demolition of the pumping station and infilling tbfe eastern tip of the Morpeth
Branch Dock, which were both granted. There isentty no proposal for the
redevelopment of the site. Axis commissioned Oxfardhaeology North (OA
North) to undertake a programme of desk-based m&s@a conjunction with a
survey of the extant remains of the dock. A survkthe dock by laser scanning
was undertaken on 22January 2010 and the report outlining the resislts
presented below.

LOCATION, TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY

Morpeth Dock is in Birkenhead, on the Wirral, in ideyside. The proposed
works area is at the eastern end of the former BtorBranch Dock, a relatively
small dock, accessed by a channel from the maimp&tbrDock to the north-
west. In the 1960s a pumping station was constiucieards the eastern end of
Morpeth Branch Dock, east of which is an open afgae former dock. Whilst
Morpeth Dock survives as an area of open waterrghminder of the Morpeth
Branch Dock, to the west of the pumping stations wdilled and developed in
the 1990s.

The dock was built in the Wallasey Pool, an aredesdp water running inland
for two miles, and therefore well suited to harbships (Ashmore 1982, 154-
5). The solid geology of the Birkenhead area isdstone of the Triassic age,
which is overlain in places by till and alluvium@s 2007).

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010



Morpeth Branch Dock, Birkenhead, Merseyside: SuReport 5

2. METHODOLOGY

21
211

2.2
221

2.3
231

2.3.2

2.3.3

PROJECT DESIGN

The survey of Morpeth Branch Dock was underakh accordance with a
project design prepared by OA Nortppendix L The primary purpose of the
project was to provide an accurate archaeologioaley of the extant dock
remains and to link this into an historical stulyanticipation of the backfilling

of the dock.

DEsSK-BASED RESEARCH

The research has focused on the historical devedoprof Morpeth Dock
through consultation of secondary sources and rgstmaps (Figs 2-13).
Sources that were consulted include:

. OA North Library: OA North has an extensive archive of historic sjap
secondary sources, and unpublished client repbinsse were consulted
where necessary;

. Promap (http://www.promap.co.uk/promap/index.jspsome of the
historic Ordnance Survey (OS) mapping was obtafred Promap;

. Cheshire Record Office website (http://maps.cheslmov.uk/
tithemaps/Default.aspx): historic mapping and aerial photographs of
the study area were consulted on this website;

. English Heritage (http://www.imagesofengland.orgdefault.aspx):
the Images of England website run by English Hgetavas consulted
for details of Listed Buildings in the immediateiity of study area;

. Wirral Archives Service (WAS)a search has been made of the WAS,
which revealed a number of documents and plansca$ed with
Morpeth Dock, although most of these show the dgpraknt of the area
prior to the construction of the Branch Dock;

FABRIC SURVEY OF THE Dock

A detailed survey of the exposed fabric of the MxnpBranch Dock was
undertaken by means of a laser scan survey, cgeat8D model; this was then
used to provide plans, cross-sections and elevatibthe structure (Figs 14-17).

Laser Scanning:laser scanning creates an accurate 3D record wiictige by
scattering, literally, millions of 3D survey pointser a structure, which were
then viewed in Pointools software. The survey casnpg multiple set ups with
the scanner, sufficient to record the external iateinal faces of the dock. The
survey was undertaken using a Faro laser scannamothuce an internal point
cloud with about 5mm spacing

The output of the survey is presented as isomeiems of the model (Fig 14),
as well as any 2D slice through the model as ap@tep In this instance, it was
decided to extract two profiles, a plan of the eastend of the dock, an
elevation of the north section of the dock wallg§-iL5-17). As the raw data is

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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24
24.1

maintained by OA North any additional drawings da generated from the
model as required. The data was extracted fronmt®wls and manipulated
within AutoCAD; in particular, the detail for therimary plan (Fig 15) was
derived from multiple slices through the laser seaodel which were then
combined within AutoCAD, from which the manuallyadighted drawing (Fig
15) was produced.

ARCHIVE

A full professional archive has been compilediccordance with the project
design Appendix ], and in accordance with current IFA and Englistritage
guidelines (English Heritage 1991). On completibthe project, the paper and
digital archive will be deposited with the Wirrak&hive Service and copies of
the digital data and report will be deposited witite Merseyside Historic
Environment Record.

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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3. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

31
3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

3.2.5

INTRODUCTION

The following section presents a summary efhistorical background of the
Birkenhead Docks, followed by an historic map regren of Morpeth Dock
and Morpeth Branch Dock.

BIRKENHEAD

Birkenhead remained largely undeveloped until 184fn land on the river
front was sold by Francis Richard Price, the tleed bf the manor, and houses
and a new church were built there. New resident® wacouraged to move to
Birkenhead by the introduction of a paddle steassvice from Liverpool to
Woodside (south of the study area), although thisiee was intermittent at
first (Collard 2007, 9-10). In 1822 a more reliabteam ferry was introduced,
which then allowed people to live in Birkenhead aatk in Liverpool and the
population doubled from 200 in 1821 ta 400 in 1823.

In the 1820s William Laird, a business man froméaieck, who had originally
come to Liverpool to build up orders for his fateetope works, realised the
potential of Birkenhead as an undeveloped appacit 10). Laird then started
to buy land in Birkenhead, with various ideas fsrdevelopment, including a
canal across the Wirral, which did not come totioni. Laird needed partners
and investors, as he was not able to finance thestures alone, and began
talks with the Great Western Railway (GWR) and tlendon and North
Western Railway (LNWR), who were interested in Haridea for docks on
the Wirral ©p cit, 10-11).

In 1826 Laird and Sir John Tobin purchased a l&r@et of land on the shore of
Wallasey Pool and soon afterwards commissioned ethgineers, Messrs
Telford, Stephenson and Nimmo, to survey the ared eeport on the
practicability of providing dock accommodation the(Liverpool Mercury,

1871; Issue 17855)

Laird’s plans for a port did not develop at thiméi, due to lack of finances, but
Laird went ahead with laying out the town; he me¢al architect Gillespie

Graham to design Hamilton Square and the centtheofown (to the south of

the study area), and this was built in the late0$8Zollard 2007, 11).

In 1830 two separate proposals for a railway fronegier to connect with the
Woodside to Liverpool ferry were made; however, thukack of parliamentary
approval and finances neither plan succeeded. éupllans were put forward
in 1835 by the Woodside Ferry Co, and in 1838 wimklly began on the
Chester and Birkenhead Railway, with a single lbeng opened in 1840,
which terminated at Grange Lanep(cit, 11-12). The railway company then
acquired most of the shares in the Woodside Femwy &d had already
purchased the Monks Ferry Co, one of its main cditgpe in 1840. In 1842
the Birkenhead Improvement Commissioners took dker Woodside Ferry
Co. and the railway was extended northwards froenGe Lane to the recently
constructed Bridge End Dock (later known as EgeBork to the immediate
west of Morpeth Dock). This line was then conneatéith the Shrewsbury and

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

3.2.9

Chester Railway, and with Saltney, so that coahftbe Wrexham area could
be transported to Birkenheao(cit, 12).

Dock Developmenta new proposal for an expanded dock in the Wall&sel
was made by the Birkenhead Improvement Commisssoimerl843, which
received Royal Assent in 1844. The engineer was Réhdel, and the
foundation stone was laid by Sir Philip Egerton 28 October 1844.
However, financial problems delayed the developnoérihe docks until 1847,
when Morpeth and Egerton Docks were finally opelagd.ord Morpeth on the
5" April, having cost £2 million to construct (Ashneof982, 154-5; Collard
2007, 12-13) (Fig 4). At this date Morpeth Dock wassmall rectangular
structure with dock gates feeding into Low WatersiBa(which had been
constructed by 1844) to the north and WoodsiderBasthe south-east. It had
a series of four graving docks radiating north foom it.

Work on the Great Float, the inland area of doackas begun after the
construction of Morpeth and Egerton Docks and theaGLow Water Basin, a
basin that was excavated to allow access for ghigsharbour at all times of
the tide. In 1849, JM Rendel, the dock engineer,s waiticised for
mismanaging the docks scheme, and he, subsequeatiigned and was
replaced by Thomas Brassegp(cit, 16). In 1850 a temporary dam separated
the Low Water Basin from The Great Float, which vgened in 1851, but
soon afterwards was closed, and deepened (Liverp@otury 1871; Issue
17855). In the 1850s the Morpeth Dock was expandetthe north, into the
area of the former graving docks, and a second |ldaydied lock was
constructed leading into the Woodside Basin. Thisip by 1858 (Fig 5), had
contracted in size, with the loss of the beachiroyigd, and had been walled.

There were financial problems in the early 1850semvsome of the merchants
using the port resented paying the high dues deethridr cargo passing

through it. In particular, it seemed to the merdbahat the money taken was
spent on developing Liverpool rather than Birkermheds a result, a Royal

Commission was established in 1853, who investifjdbee complaints and

recommended that a new body should run the Birkashlamd Liverpool docks.

In 1857 the Mersey Docks and Harbour Board wasbskeed, who assumed
responsibility for the docks from 1858 onwardsd).

There had been ongoing problems with the dockdudimeg difficulties for
large ships entering the dock system, as the wadsrnot deep enough at the
dock entrances. In addition, the Morpeth and Egellocks’ gates had quickly
become warped, and were difficult to shitiq). The then surveyors of the
docks, Jesse Hartley, famous as the engineer ohitbepool Docks, and his
son JB Hartley, brought these problems to the tterof the Mersey Docks
and Harbour Board (Collard 2007, 19). The board saw that work on the
Great Float, with its entrance through the new &dfrDock which was to
replace the Great Low Water Basin, was continued ey were finally
opened in 1866. Morpeth Dock was extended at tims,twhich included the
construction of the Morpeth Branch Dock in 1866{&®llard 2007, 19-20;
Ashmore 1982, 154-5). Morpeth Branch Dock was cotateto Morpeth Dock
by means of a passage at its south-western exye8bitfeet in width; ‘it
contained a water area of 4 acres, 243 yards &néal quayage of 637 yards’
(Kellys Directory of Liverpool 1894, 788). The sieéthe entrance of Morpeth

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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Branch Dock in 1911 was listed as 84 feet 9 inatiee and the linear quayage
637 yards (Kellys Directory of Liverpool 1911).

3.2.10 Port Developmentin 1861 a passenger railway line to Birkenhead ogened,
and a number of new goods lines were constructéi;thwwere connected to
the large LNWR depot and the GWR goods shed ndrtiapeth Dock ¢p
cit, 20). To the north-east of the railway houses tines Wallasey Landing
Stage, which was used, from 1878 onwards, to lratte on shore from ships
arriving from Ireland and America. The cattle thmoved down an elevated
walkway to the Woodside lairage, located south oirpéth Dock. Birkenhead
was then one of the major ports for UK livestoclports (Ashmore 1982, 155-
6; Collard 2007, 27). The construction of the doblk&l been central to the
development of Birkenhead, with industries suclil@s-milling, tanning, the
manufacture of glue, suet and gelatine, iron-fongdiengineering and steam
wagon and tramcar manufacture being carried ouhbeyend of the nineteenth
century (McNeil and Newman 2006, 171 and 189; Asteni®82, 153; Collard
2007, 19). By 1871 the total area of the BirkenhEathte was 497 acres, of
which 167 acres was water space, with nine milegjusfyage, warehouses,
sheds, business yards and roads (Liverpool Mert8rt; Issue 17855).

3.2.11 Morpeth Dock had an hydraulic crane of three tamsacity and the dock was
used by the Clan Line Steamers trading to Soutltdfind India, and by those
belonging to Messrs Gellatly, Hankey and Co. trgdino China
(www.merseyside-gateway.org.uk).

3.2.12 During the First World War, the Mersey was the magorival point for
American servicemen, and weapons, food, clotheslacmmotives were all
brought through the docks. In 1914 the Birkenheattlectrucks were used to
transfer the troops (Collard 2007, 31).

3.2.13 The whole dock system sustained extensive damatheiBecond World War,
in particular during the blitz of May 1941, and anmber of areas required
urgent repair in order to carry on functioning (@ad 2001, 13). By the end of
the war, the Mersey Docks and Harbour Board hadndertake a massive
reconstruction programme, as well as assessingnipact of the changing
market trends in cotton and other gooitsd]. Some rebuilding took place at
the Birkenhead docks during the 1950s and 1960ghadcontinued to thrive,
particularly due to the increase in oil-relatedffica However, there were a
number of industrial disputes by the port workershe mid 1960s, which led
to days when the port could not function. Shipsenmgiverted to other ports,
and their owners, having found a more reliableiserelsewhere, did not return
to the Mersey ports when the disputes were awercit 15).

3.2.14 Shipping of containers also took off in the 19681%] other ports were quick to
develop container handling systems, which agaiertidd trade away from the
Mersey docks. The Merseyside Docks were also @wiot the decline of the
empire, losing previously important trading markeasd with the entry of
Britain into the EEC, trade was diverted to Euregech preferred south and
eastern dockshid). The Mersey Docks and Harbour Board subsequereht
into liquidation, but the government replaced ithwihe Mersey Docks and
Harbour Co in 1971, as it recognised the econompmortance of keeping the
port open ¢p cit, 17). However, by the early 1980s the use of Bihead as a
port had started to decline and the number of dacksse at Birkenhead

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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gradually reduced, which resulted in Morpeth andrpéth Branch Docks
becoming redundant (Collard 2007, 50 and 52).

3.2.15 Morpeth Branch Dock Pumping Station (Fig 11)in the early 1960s a

pumping station was constructed at the easternoémiorpeth Branch Dock;
the proposal drawing is dated August 1959. This wssd for flood risk
management, and received flows from the land dga&nand surface water
system, as connected to the river Birket and theaGCulvert (to the south of
the dock), and provided for their discharge eithyegravity, via the tidal flaps,
or, under tide-locked conditions, via the pumpitegien into the River Mersey.

3.2.16 The remainder of Morpeth Dock was still in use e t11990s, but has since

3.3
3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

been largely redeveloped, and the railway hub, glenth many of the
warehouses which lined the wharves of the dockevileen cleared (Plates 1-
4). Whilst Morpeth Dock survives as an area of opeter, the Morpeth
Branch Dock was infilled and developed in the 1990% eastern end, east of
the pumping station, is therefore the only remanarea of exposed dock
walls. In 2000 the Birkenhead WWTW, located immeéelija upstream, was
constructed, which has left the Morpeth Branch Dgukmping station
redundant.

MAP REGRESSION ANALYSIS

This map regression is intended to provide an maithf the main developments
of Morpeth Dock from the late nineteenth centuryards.

Proposed Docks in Wallasey Pool as designed in 1B3%V Laird, published,
1843 (B808/1)the plans proposed by W Laird show shipwrights gard the
banks of the Mersey, on either side of an openmgwo small basins, an
outward and inward. These in turn led to the HadfeTBasin (later to be called
the Low Water Basin). To the north were graving kdoand to the south a
narrow, roughly north/south aligned dock with warebes and canal. The dock
was connected by lock gates to both the Half TidsiBand also a rectangular
basin, to the south-west, which was to become theodside Basin. Two
connecting passages led from the Half Tide Basia tong, narrow dock in
Wallasey Pool. On the north side of the proposetkdwas a small works, of
unknown function, and a lead works.

Plan of Floating Dock and other works at Wallaseyo#&, 1843 (B/808/A1)
(Fig 2): a new proposal for an expanded dock in the Walld&say had been
made by the Birkenhead Improvement Commissionerd 843, which had
received Royal Assent in 1844. This map was prodidng JM Rendel, the
engineer, and showed the whole of the Wallasey B@a. The proposed docks
included the Great Low Water Basin and ‘intendedch’daAn arm of the basin
branched to the south-west towards Corporation Rodtre a smaller dock
was proposed to the east of a lime works, and wése position of what was to
be the Egerton Dock. To the north-west of the basis a wharf and pier head
adjacent to a ‘small works’. The plan shows a psapdor a basin, adjacent to a
ferry pier, in what was to become the Woodside ®Basowever, the shape of
the basin was slightly irregular and significarlyger than that depicted on the
earlier proposal (B808/1).

For the use of Axis © OA North April 2010
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3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

3.3.7

Plan of the Docks and Warehouses proposed to be enatdBirkenhead, 1844
(B/808/A3) (Fig 3):this plan was also produced by JM Rendel and adlthe
site of a proposed dock immediately to the souit-ethe Low Water Basin,
which was also connected by lock gates to WoodB@&n to the south-east.
The small proposed dock was ultimately to be thepdth Dock and the later
Morpeth Branch Dock was to be on the site of theo?étde Basin. A ‘steam
packet wharf and railway are marked adjacent ®ploposed dock, with two
additional wharves extending towards the river MgrsTo the west was a
goods station for railway goods and general sammbens and further to the
west are Stanley Dock, Egerton Dock and Westmir3tek, all aligned north-
east/south-west and opening up onto ‘The Great’Fl0a the north side of the
Great Float were the British Gum Works, Copper iRgIMills, Varnish Works
and an lron Foundry.

Plan of the Docks and Warehouses to be visited dgrihe opening ceremony,
1847 (B/808/4) (Fig 4):the drawing commemorates the opening by Lord
Morpeth of two new docks on 5th April 1847. Thesereveach annotated
simply as ‘Dock’, but were subsequently called Malp Dock and Egerton
Dock. They were to the north-west of the WoodsidzsiB, ferry slip and
beaching ground, which was the site of the latergdth Branch Dock. The
depiction of ‘Morpeth Dock’ corresponded to theoposed dock’ shown on the
previous plan and which was then connected to fgpaving docks and was
adjacent to a steam packet wharf and railway exienghe dock was a much
smaller version of what it was ultimately to becoraed only the south-western
dock wall corresponded with that of its later forbess detail is shown to the
west of the warehouse area, immediately to thehsoluThe Great Float, which
was shown simply as ‘Birkenhead Dock Company’s Brigp A series of
interconnecting locks and bridges are shown ardgbed_.ow Water Basin area
and to the north was another wharf.

Plan showing the works authorised by the first argkecond Acts of the
Birkenhead Dock Commissioners, 1847 (B/808/Al@he Great Low Water
Basin was shown, as on previous maps, as comprdingcres. To the south-
west was the ‘Crown Reserve’ basin, with an arethersouth side annotated in
a hand-written note as ‘Morpeth Docks. The founvgrg docks are also shown.
To the west the Dock Company's Warehouses were shamd there were
further proposals marked for the area previousbmshas The Great Float and
series of interconnecting docks. On the north efdbe Great Float channel, the
gum, copper, varnish and iron works were shown.

Plan showing the docks and proposed works, 18583(B): this plan shows
Morpeth Dock and Egerton Dock adjacent to WoodsBlsin. To the
immediate west of Egerton Dock was the Marinersr€inuTo the north of
Morpeth and Egerton docks were areas of proposekisywon either side of the
Great Float Entrance. Morpeth Dock had been sutisiignenlarged since the
previous map, with the loss of the four graving ldgcand the addition of a
further double gated lock leading to the dock fritw@ adjacent Woodside Basin
(double gate locks allow for movement into the datlall stages of tide). The
Woodside Basin had been reduced in extent, with ¢tdshe beaching ground,
by comparison with the 1847 plan (B/808/A10), arabswy this stage edged on
three sides with walls, but was still open to thers&y. The area to the south-
east of Morpeth and Egerton Docks had been dewvel@gmel some of the
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3.3.8

3.3.9

buildings included a customs shed, coal yard, tmyjaed and various depots,
warehouses and sheds. The proposed landing stadgleef®oodside Ferry is
also shown, with an adjacent promenade.

Ordnance Survey first edition 6"to 1 mile map, 188Eig 6): a lock with an
hydraulic swing bridge at the western end formsah&gance to Morpeth Dock
(Listed Building IoE 389256) from the river Mersehhis provided access into
the main area of the dock, with a narrow channadliley to the smaller dock
(named Morpeth Branch Dock) in the south-easteea af Morpeth Dock, in
which the present study area is located. Both Mbrjock and the Morpeth
Branch Dock have by now taken on their most conepietm. A channel at the
western end of Morpeth Dock links it to Egerton Rodydraulic swing bridges
are marked across both of these channels, withotletthe channel to Egerton
Dock carrying a railway line. This line led to théreat Western Railway
Company’s Goods Station’, located to the north arpéth Dock. A group of
un-named buildings are located to the north-weghefgoods station. Morpeth
Dock has buildings on its south side, and buildimgthe area north of the lock.
A Time Gun is marked to the east of the northesaaf the dock. The three
wharves of Morpeth Branch Dock are shown as linath Wuildings, the
northern and south-western of these are unnamettheomap, but the south-
eastern (Listed Building loE 389268) is labelledhi@a Steam Navigation
Company’s Goods Shed’. South of this are furtheldimgs labelled ‘Pacific
Steam Navigation Company’s Works'.

Ordnance Survey 25"to 1 mile map, 1911 (Fig This map was produced at a
larger scale and, therefore, shows more detalh@fdiocks, as well as showing
some changes since the 1882 OS map. A swing bisdgkeown at the eastern
end of the lock leading into Morpeth Dock, in adxitto the hydraulic swing
bridge at the western end. The area to the northeoflock now contains further
railway lines, which lead to the GWR Goods Shedi anthe west of the un-
named buildings is an area labelled ‘Goods Yar& (NWR)'. The wharves of
Morpeth Dock are now all lined with buildings, atigh none of these is
labelled. A hydraulic crane is marked on the naevdstern wharf of the dock,
and mooring posts are marked along the dock wdlkge detail is shown of the
buildings on the wharves of Morpeth Branch Dock,iclhare divided into
sheds: four on the south-east wharf, three ondbthsvest wharf and six on the
northern wharf. Mooring posts are also shown altmg dock walls, and the
area to the south of the dock (on the south sideacific Road) has been further
developed, and is labelled ‘Woodside Lairage’, ¢ating that it was now in use
as a livestock holding area. The line of the Mersaijway tunnel is also
depicted on this map.

3.3.10 Ordnance Survey 6’to 1 mile map, 1928 (Fig 8here appear to have been no

significant developments between the productiothef1911 OS map, and the
production of this map aside from the constructbhe ventilation station for
the Mersey Tunnel at the eastern end of Morpetm@&rdock (Listed Building
IoE 389269).

3.3.11 Ordnance Survey 6”to 1 mile map, 1938 (Fig Qhis map is generally similar

to that of the 1928 map. In Morpeth Dock, the badg on the south side of the
dock are labelled ‘warehouses’, and the bridge whitks this dock to Egerton
Dock is labelled as a bascule bridge. In additmthe Time Gun at the eastern
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end of the dock, a ‘Ball Signal Navigation Lightré@n)’ is marked. The line of
the Mersey road tunnel is indicated on this map.

3.3.12 Ordnance Survey 1:10,560 map, 1954-56 (Fig 1®e bridges across the lock
from the river Mersey into Morpeth Dock are depicten this map, but not
labelled. No other significant changes since tH&810©S map were noted.

3.3.13 Cheshire River Board Morpeth Branch Dock Pumpinge@ion Proposal, 1959
(Fig 11): this proposal drawing, dated August 1959, was yced by Sandford
Fawcett and Partners Consulting Civil Engineershibws the station set into
the easternmost tip of the Branch Dock, and pralider flood risk
management. The plan shows large pipes from theaiGCZulvert’ to the south
of the dock leading to either a series of four psrmp into a tank containing
tidal flap chambers. The latter had a pipe whicd BEck into the ‘Great
Culvert’ and in effect provided a defence againghhtide inundation of the
culvert and River Birkett. The pumps provided flownder tide-locked
conditions, into the river Mersey. The layout o {humping station was largely
as it is now, with the tidal flow tank on the scernh side of the dock closely
matching its present form. The original steps atehstern end of the dock are
shown, as are the later steps leading from the; tholvever, the concrete
overhangs over the dock wall are not depicted.

3.3.14 Ordnance Survey 1:10,560 map, 1966 (Fig 12he north-eastern part of
Morpeth Dock is labelled ‘Morpeth Tongue’ on thispping. The Time Gun
and Ball Signal are not labelled on this mappinke Breas of Morpeth Dock
and Morpeth Branch Dock appear much as they wegretdel on the 1950s OS
map. To the north-east of Morpeth Dock, the un-raéimglding to the west of
the goods shed is labelled as a stables, and tasgard to the west of this is
now shown as having been sub-divided and is lathelke allotment gardens.
The map does not depict the Morpeth Branch Dockpuogstation (Fig 11)
even though that had been constructed in the @860s.

3.3.15 Aerial Photos, ¢1971-3 (http://maps.cheshire.goviitkemaps/Default. aspx)
(Plates 1 and 2)black and white aerial photography from the 1931@sws the
dock in use, and with much the same layout as thpion the 1966 OS
mapping. The most significant change is the develaq, at the eastern end of
Morpeth Branch Dock, of the pumping station. Tlismarked on the current
map and can be seen extending almost across i lefithe eastern end of the
dock, and there is an open area to the east offthree small square buildings
(the switch room to the south of the pumping stattmd the two tidal flap
chambers to the east) are shown along the souploetion of this area.

3.3.16 Ordnance Survey 1:10,560 map, 1991 (Fig 13pme clearance of the area
around the dock had taken place by the time ofrtapping. To the north of
Morpeth Dock, the railway lines, goods shed, swllled allotment gardens all
appear to have been cleared, and the area is bi&ekbuildings on the north
side of the dock had also been cleared. The twigbs across the lock between
the river Mersey and Morpeth Dock had been remauedl replaced with one
bridge, located more centrally across this chanftet. bascule bridge across the
channel into Egerton Dock was still marked; howeVére study area is shown
as having been developed and includes the pumpatigrs with an open area
(tip of the Morpeth Branch Dock) on its easterresitihe rest of the dock to the
west is still shown as an open, and has not, Isydhie been backfilled.
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3.3.17 Current mapping, ¢ 2008 (Fig 1):ithe current mapping shows that the
warehouses on the south-western and northern side®rpeth Branch Dock
have been removed since the 1991 OS map. The deek has also been
infilled and developed, as has the area of the déorlack linking the river
Mersey into Morpeth Dock. The study area has aarggtlar pumping station
on its west side, a small square pumping housedsorast side (immediately
west of the ventilation station), three other snmallidings on the south side,
and an open area of former dock (now dry). Morpg2titck remains an area of
open water, however, and there is still accesaugirdo Egerton Dock. All of
the former buildings flanking the dock have beemaeed, and there are some
new developments.

34 L1STED BUILDINGS
3.4.1 There are three listed buildings in the area:

3.4.2 Morpeth Dock (lIoE 389256, at NGR SJ 3254 895Qis listing includes
Morpeth Dock and the dock walls, located to thetm@nd north-west of the
study area. The dock was originally constructetida7 by JM Rendel, and was
reconstructed and expanded in 1868 by JB Hartleg.Walls are granite faced,
with some cast-iron dock furniture. The main baswjch was linked to the
river Mersey by lock, was laid with interlocked 3¢9 to provide rigidity. The
raised surfaces of the wharves contain cast-iréchlea to provide access to the
hydraulic power system, installed in the 1880s,clvhwvas used to open gates
etc. There are flights of steps to the water.

3.4.3 Recent discussions between Axis and the Wirral Cib@onservation Officer
have indicated that this listing is interpretedinclude the eastern end of
Morpeth Branch Dock, where the dock walls are egdos

3.4.4 Transit Sheds to the south of Morpeth Branch DodklE 389268, at NGR SJ
3281 8937)these Grade Il Listed Buildings are located toithmediate south
and south-west of the study area. This listing c®Weur single-storey sheds,
which have wide openings and sliding doors to tbekdide. The sheds were
constructed, under the supervision of GF Lystereagineer, inc 1872-73.
These are the only stone transit sheds in Merseysid

3.4.5 Woodside Ventilation Station of the Mersey Road Tah (IoE 389269, at
NGR SJ 3291 8943)this Grade Il Listed Building is located to thenmadiate
east of the study area. It was constructed in 13B25y Sir Basil Mott and JA
Brodie to the design of Herbert Rowse. The buildimguses giant fans for
ventilation, and is the largest of a series oféhi@vers on the Birkenhead side
of the Mersey Tunnel.
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4. SURVEY RESULTS

4.1
4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

4.1.4

M ORPETH BRANCH DocCK

The extant section of dock, is the curvedesastost tip of the Morpeth Branch
Dock. It was a section cut off from the main dook1960 to allow for the
construction of the Morpeth Dock Pumping Statiomg & shown as such on
the 1971-3 aerial photographs (Plates 1-2). Theakthe Branch Dock was
subsequently backfilled and the site was redevelojgaving this small section
as the only extant vestige of the dock. There lareet sections of the dock that
are distinct in their form; the northern sectione teasternmost section which
includes a rebate for steps and the southernmasioisewhich is heavily
obscured by tanks and infrastructure belonginght gumping station. The
exposed depth of the dock is only 3.8m, and muchihef dock has been
backfilled.

Northern Section (Figs 14, 15 and 16; Plates 5 a@d the northern section is
the best surviving section as it was not impactgedhle works for the pumping
station, and its easterly edge is marked by descgrgteps. The geology is
distinct from that of the eastern and southerni@est It has a bright white,
dressed limestone coping on top, which was alsd tmethe upper surface of
the steps. It has a pale, pink sandstone facinly eut ashlar blocks. While the
masonry is well coursed there is a mixture of ddfe sized and shape stones
which disrupts the coarsing in places; as such dbigrasts with the slightly
more regular construction on the south and easieies. The masonry wall is
generally in a very good condition, with few indices of erosion scars or
decay of the masonry joints.

The slightly irregular character of the northside is reflected in plan, as it is
evident that the coping stones are of irregulapshand size by comparison
with those to the south. They have a slightly @ratnd essentially long and
short quayside edge to the line of coping stondgreas the southern ones
have a straight edge, parallel to the dock edgéetween the coping stones
are the bored holes for lead bonding of the agbiats; molten lead poured in
after construction of the masonry would fill reassn both stones so that
when the lead goes solid it provides a permanednt hetween them. These
holes are at a fairly uniform 0.5m separation aoif the dock edge, but,
because the stones are not regular, they are nesserily in the middle of each
stone. At the eastern end of the wall section imsa@ring ring that is 0.3m in
diameter and set 1m below the top of the dock wall.

Eastern Section (Figs 15 and 17; Plates 7 and B)e eastern section includes
the access steps and the eastern, curved end afotite The steps are an
integral part of the original design, as they aewgthin a purpose built rebate
into the dock wall. At the top of the dock wall,etk is no rebate on the
southern side, but at depths of 2.0m and 2.9m ftbhen surface there are
overhanging corbelled edges, such that at the prepth of the dock (3.8m

below the top of the wall) the wall face is recesbg 0.3m in this area (Figs 15
and 17) and has an overhang above. The verticakdutorner of the rebate
edge is visible at a distance, around the curvel302m from the top of the

steps. Assuming that the angle of descent of #qgsss constant, and allowing
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4.1.5

4.1.6

4.1.7

4.1.8

for a 1m platform step at the base of the stepis, ossible to estimate how
deep the steps descended before they came up tatiengertical line of the

rebate. The computation indicates that the baskeo$teps was 8.2m from the
top of the wall, and the dock was evidently at ie¢hat depth. The steps would
have gained access to the interior of the dock whems empty of water, and
it may be that the base of the steps correspondedive floor of the dock, but

it is also possible that there was some depth démizelow the step base. A
depth recorded for the adjacent Morpeth Dock in0OL@lunningham 1910, 33)
was 9.6m from top of the coping stone, and may esigthat Morpeth Branch

Dock sill was 1.4m below the depth of the stepssThinimum depth of the

dock is more than twice the present depth of 3.8nd would suggest that
much of the depth of the dock had been backfilled.

The steps were of a similar dressed limestone @asidinthern coping (Plates 6
and 7). Covering the top eight steps is a layecaicrete which evidently
reflects a later repair of damaged step surfacetsin® this is a brick structure
which was probably intended to block off the stdpalow this brick ‘blocking’
the steps are in good condition.

The facing stone behind the steps has a differeatacter to that facing the
steps and on the northern section of the walls bfia red sandstone, but the
ashlar blocks are again irregularly sized, leadnglightly irregular coursing.
The ashlar blocks for the overhanging ‘steps’ amged blocks divided by a
course of small blocks.

Southern Section (Fig 15; Plates 9 and 1Qhe southern section is largely
obscured by the construction of a large tidal flapk in front of it in 1960;
however, the eastern part of the wall is visiblee Tacing stone is again of red
sandstone ashlar blocks, which are again of ireggsize, but they are better
coursed than those of the northern section. Thiecpkar characteristics of the
coping stones, which again are of limestone coostm, is that they are of a
very regular size by comparison with those on thethern section, each being
typically 1.1m x 0.77m in size. The quayside edfeall the coping stones is
set along a line parallel to the dock edge andatfjacent warehouse. Between
the edge of the coping stones and the warehousen&grow strip of cobbles.
Between the coping stones are again the bored hamldsad bonding of the
ashlar blocks.

Conclusions: there is a contrasting build between the northard southern
sides of the dock, defined by the differences erdggularity of the coping and
the type of sandstone. Such differences could pathnreflect distinct phases
of construction; however, the steps are of onedbaild the masonry of the
rebate is of another. The rebate was specificalilf tb accommodate the steps,
and therefore the steps can not be a later addilioe possibility exists that the
distinct builds reflect different phases of conetion, such that alternative
stone quarries were sourced part way through agetgin, or that the different
sides of the dock were built by different contrasto
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5. DISCUSSION

5.1
5.1.1

5.1.2

5.1.3

MORPETH BRANCH DOCK

The map regression has demonstrated thatréfaecd Woodside Basin was
subject to many changes and developments betweet8 Ehd the
construction of the Morpeth Branch Dock in 18668bsequently, there was
seemingly little change to the dock itself, for abha hundred years until the
construction of the pumping stationari960 (Plates 1-4). This appears to be
confirmed by the fabric survey which shows two pial phases of
construction, the first corresponding with the doatonstruction and the
second with its adaptation for the pumping statidme build characteristics of
the northern side of the dock are generally sintilathose of the southern
side, although the northern side was a bit moegudar in build. However,
the principle difference is that the facing stonaseither side used a different
type of sandstone. The external face of the stapshe pale, pink sandstone,
whereas the facing stones behind the steps, incdipg a rebate for the
steps, have a red sandstone. While this could tiped as a phase change,
the steps had an integral construction with the fiaaze, and the corresponding
step rebate, and were evidently not a later addithile it is possible that
the north side of the dock was refaced, it is pestsgnificant that both sides
had a roughly coursed ashlar build. It is, themfqrobable that the colour
change reflects the switching of quarry sourcethencourse of the original
build and perhaps also reflects different contnact@ther than a different
phase of construction.

The construction of the pumping station, gealed in the 1959 proposal (Fig
11), corresponds closely with the Phase 2 featestified by the survey.

The pumping station depiction at the west end tates with the observed
wall of the pump house. The plan of the Tidal FtApmbers matches closely
with the observed remains, even down to the foroh @osition of the metal

steps. The southern concrete overhang is as dépwtethe plan, but an

eastern overhang, over part of the stone stepshetadepicted on the 1959
plan.

The survey suggests that the depth of the docétikeast 8.2m and could be
as much 9.6m from the top of the dock wall; wherthas present depth is
3.8m. This confirms that the dock has been subiathnbackfilled and that
there is likely to be largely intact walls, and theck sill, beneath the present
depth. The 1959 plan of the proposed pumping stasioows large sub-
terranean pipes feeding into the tidal flap chamband these are likely to be
within the depth of the backfill. At two points #® pipes are shown
breaching the dock walls, and there will, therefdre some damage to the
walls; otherwise, the wall was found to be in gooddition.
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6. MITIGATION

6.1
6.1.1

6.1.2

MITIGATION STRATEGY

The survey has provided an historical account efdbvelopment of Morpeth
Dock and the associated Morpeth Branch Dock, cadgilom readily available
sources including the OA North library, websited &mstoric mapping. This has
been undertaken in conjunction with a detailed itaBurvey of the dock by
laser scanning which has provided a mitigative mécof the structure in
advance of its being backfilled (Figs 14-17). Thevey has determined that the
structure, barring the 1960 pumping station improgets, is in good condition.

The recent backfilling of the upper 3.8m of the kibas been undertaken with
loose aggregate, which will not adhere to the masand any blacktop surface
was separated from the masonry by a membraneelaréea between the tidal
flap chambers and the wall, where there is an @regha 600mm thickness of
polystyrene was used to protect the wall, and ¢ise of the void was filled with
a soft foamed concrete. The foamed concrete wasftansix which can
subsequently be removed if required. Given theipusvgood condition of the
wall and the benign backfill strategy, the dock Iwslpreserved intact for the
future.
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APPENDIX 1 PROJECT DESIGN

11
111

1.1.2

12
3.2.16.1

3.2.17

3.2.18

3.2.19

3.2.20

INTRODUCTION
CONTRACT BACKGROUND

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) has beanited by Axis to provide a project design
for a fabric survey of the extant remains of Morp8ranch Dock (NGR SJ 32859 89426).
This is required in advance of the proposed decasioning of the adjacent Morpeth Dock
pumping station. The decommissioning has been pexpa@s it would eliminate the risks
associated with the continued ownership and maames of the pumping station. The
preferred option for decommissioning is for the détion of the pumping station, electricity
sub-station and double-garage, and the subseqiféling of the pumping station area and the
eastern end of the Morpeth Branch Dock (which &sently dry). The site has listed building
status and there is an anticipated requirementétailed recording of the dock element in
advance of its backfilling.

A provisional historical background was pr@ddo accompany the planning application for
the development (OA North 2007), but this was omyoutline and did not provide a
sufficiently detailed assessment of the history degielopment of the site. As part of the
mitigative stage of the programme there would neeoe a full desk-based assessment of the
dock.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

A proposal for an expanded dock in the Wallaseyl RodBirkenhead was made by the
Birkenhead Improvement Commissioners in 1843, whateived Royal Assent in 1844 and
this provided the basis for the construction of tuvare to become the Morpeth and Egerton
docks. The engineer was JM Rendel, and the fownatone was laid by Sir Philip Egerton
in the 1844. However financial problems delayed degelopment of the docks until 1847,
when Morpeth and Egerton Docks were finally opebgdLord Morpeth on the 5th April,
having cost £2 million to construct (Ashmore 19824-5; Collard 2007, 12-13).

There had been ongoing problems with the dockdudirg difficulties for large ships
entering the dock system, as the water was not eleepgh at the dock entrances. In addition,
the Morpeth and Egerton Docks’ gates had quicklyob®e warped, and were difficult to shut.
The then surveyors of the docks, Jesse Hartleyptianas the engineer on the Liverpool
Docks, and his son JB Hartley brought these probltarthe attention of the Mersey Docks
and Harbour Board. The board saw to it that workhenGreat Float with its entrance through
the new Alfred Dock, which was to replace the Gieatv Water Basin, was continued and
they were finally opened in 1866. Morpeth Dock watended at this time, which included the
construction of the Morpeth Branch Dock in 1866{€®llard 2007, 19-20; Ashmore 1982,
154-5).

In 1861 a passenger railway line to Birkenhead eygened, and a number of new goods lines
were constructed, which were connected to the lalM&R depot and GWR goods shed north
of Morpeth Dock ¢p cit 20). To the north-east of the railway houses ttees Wallasey
Landing Stage, which was used, from 1878 onwarshring cattle on shore from ships
arriving from Ireland and America.

The whole dock system sustained extensive damagfeeisecond World War, in particular
during the blitz of May 1941, and a number of aneaglired urgent repair in order to carry on
functioning (Collard 2001, 13). By the end of tharwthe Mersey Docks and Harbour Board
had to undertake a massive reconstruction prograrameell as assessing the impact of the
changing market trends in cotton and other godaid)( Some rebuilding took place at the
Birkenhead docks during the 1950s and 1960s andciatinued to thrive, particularly due to
the increase in oil-related traffic.

Shipping of containers took off in the 1960s, atitko ports were quick to develop container
handling systems, which diverted trade away fromNtersey docks. The Mersey Docks and
Harbour Board subsequently went into liquidationt the government replaced it with the
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Mersey Docks and Harbour Co. in 1971, as it recmEghthe economic importance of keeping
the port opendp cit, 17). However, by the early 1980s the use of Bihead as a port had

started to decline and the number of docks in usBirkenhead gradually reduced, which
resulted in Morpeth Dock becoming redundant (Cdl2007, 50 and 52).

OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGY NORTH

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) (formerly Laratar University Archaeological Unit
(LUAU)) has considerable experience of the archagioal survey and evaluation of sites and
monuments of all periods, having undertaken a gnesmber of small and large projects
during the past 19 years. OA North has particulggeeéence in the archaeological recording
and analysis of standing ancient monuments, héstouildings and industrial landscapes.
Projects have been undertaken to fulfil the diffiéreequirements of various clients and
planning authorities, and to very rigorous timet¢abl

OA North has been undertaking detailed fabric spymviebuildings since 1984, and is one of
the foremost specialists in building recording. Odorth has developed recording and
analytical techniques over the years in order tprawe the efficiency and quality of the

surveys, and is a practitioner of all types of thnig) survey technique. This culminates with
the use of 3d Laser scanning, which provides ateurery detailed 3d data by economic
means, which can then be used for the creatiorf & fully rendered 3D model or / and 2D

drawings as required. OA North has recently unétertaa Laser Scan survey of nineteenth
century warehouses and docks in Liverpool, andthisdnterior of a blast furnace and a steam
engine at Backbarrow, Cumbria. The latter two jolese undertaken in very confined spaces
and demonstrated the effectiveness of the techsigusuch circumstances.

OA North has considerable experience of the ingatitn of buildings of all types over the

last twenty years. This includes the fabric sureéya number of castles, eg Bolton Castle,
North Yorks, Brougham Castle, Cumbria, Peel Cagtllanbria, Lancaster Castle, as well as a
significant number of Abbeys, which include Calddybey, Furness Abbey (both Cumbria)

and Jedbergh Abbey (North Yorks). OA North has atensiderable experience of the

recording of buildings of lesser status, partidylaernacular structures.

Dock Experience:OA North has enormous experience of the recordi@gocks on the
opposite side of the Mersey. OA North has beenlirebin the archaeological investigations
at Canning Place, Liverpool, since 2001, and hesntty completed the field work of a further
phase of evaluation/excavation on the Old Dock,v@hse Park and Canning Dock areas. OA
North has undertaken all the work on the Old Dock art of the Paradise Street
Development, as well as the Merseytram investigatioThis has entailed a massive
programme of open area excavation, and OA Nortiloig compiling the exhibition material
for the Old Dock Information Centre. In addition Qdorth has undertaken extensive building
surveys of warehouses within the extent of the diaeaStreet development.

OA North has undertaken the programme of archae@b@valuation in advance of the
Liverpool Canal Link on behalf of British WaterwayEhe archaeological programme has
exposed and recorded the docks for St Georges Bakaster Dock and the Manchester Dock
(OA North 2006a). In addition to this a further gramme of evaluation was undertaken by
OA North on an adjacent area in advance of theqmeg Mann Island retail development (OA
North 2006b) which recorded the early Dry Dock éfmamner of Canning Dock).

OA North has the professional expertise asdukces to undertake the project detailed below
to a high level of quality and efficiency. OA Nordmd all its members of staff operate subject
to the Institute of Field Archaeologists' (IFA) Goadf Conduct. OA North is a registered
organisation of the IFA (No 17).

OBJECTIVES

The following programme has been designed iordence with a brief by the Conservation
Officer of Wirral Borough Council to provide a deBksed assessment of the dock and its
development and also a fabric survey of the doakitigation for its backfilling.
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METHOD STATEMENT
INTRODUCTION

There is a requirement for a desk based assesa&htm@ dock, which would follow on from
and augment the earlier outline historical stud (Qorth 2009). There is also a requirement
for a fabric survey of the dock, which it is propdse undertaken by laser scanning.

Desk Based Assessment

Desk-based Assessmen& detailed archaeological desk based assessm@&#)(should be
undertaken in accordance with the relevant IFA Bndlish Heritage guidelines (Institute of
Field Archaeologists, 2001Standard and guidance for archaeological Desk-based
AssessmentsEnglish Heritage, 2006Vlanagement of Research Projects in the Historic
Environment(MoRPHE)). The desk based assessment, followgam the earlier historical
background, and will be enhanced by further docuargnwork. The data generated during
the present study will serve as a guide to theamalogical and historic potential of the site.
The DBA will review the existing documentary antialailable cartographic sources and any
available historic photographs of the study areati€ular emphasis will be upon the historic
Ordnance Survey cartographic evidence which hagdltential to allow an assessment of the
development of the site. In particular, the DBA Wbmake use of the following resources:

. Wirral Archives Service (WAS)a brief search has been made of the catalogueeof t
WAS, which revealed a number of documents and plssociated with Morpeth
Dock. The DBA would make particular use of the glawhich may show nineteenth
century developments to the dock. The WAS also sohistoric mapping of
Birkenhead and may hold photographs of the studg.ar

. Merseyside Archaeological Service Historic Enviroemt Record (HER):
consultation would be made with the curator of HteR, to check for any records of
archaeological sites or previous archaeologicalkwaithin the study area. Any
photographic material lodged in the Merseyside distEnvironment Record will also
be studied. Published documentary sources will laésexamined and assessed.

. Aerial Photos: an initial search was made of historic aerial peatf Morpeth Dock
with Cheshire Shared Services. It is likely thatréhare further aerial photos to those
obtained for the preliminary desk-based work. AtHar search would therefore be
made of Cheshire Shared Services and other possibieces of aerial photographs
such as WAS and the NMR (National Monuments Recaadjial photograph
collection.

Fabric Survey of the Dock

It is proposed to undertake a detailed survey ef ékposed fabric of the Morpeth Branch
Dock by means of laser scan survey. This woul@tera 3D model of the structure, which
can then be edited to provide plans of the strectaross sections and elevations of the dock
walls.

Laser Scanning:laser Scanning is a modern technique which prodanesccurate 3d record
of a structure in a very short time. It entails gwattering of, quite literally, millions of 3d
survey points over a structure which can then leeved and manipulated in AutoCad (using
Cloudworks software) or using Pointools softwarde Ttechnique can produce a detailed
survey of a structure such as the Morpeth Dockh bternally and the external quayside
stones, in a short amount of time. The resultamtptata can be used as a record in its own
right, or can be enhanced by drawing around thergakeatures within AutoCad to produce 2d
drawings, or by the draping of modelled surfacesrdkie point cloud to create a model. The
advantage of the technique is that it provides na@tail than can ever be reproduced within
2d drawings and the digital data can be reintetemjaat any stage to provide further
information as required.

The survey will entail set ups of the scanner sidfit to record the external and internal faces
of the dock. The survey will be undertaken usinigaao laser scanner to produce an internal
point cloud with about 5mm spacing and will be utaleen by APR Services. A number of
set-ups will be utilised to ensure that there arslmdows or gaps within the digital record.
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Drawing production: the survey will provide a plan of the dock, twmss sections and the
principal elevations. The plan will incorporaté@rizontal slice through the dock model at a
metre below the top of the dock and also will beged with face on views of the quay stones
at the top of the dock and the present ground seiré the base of the dock. The three views
(slices) will be merged to create a composite piathe dock and all associated elements. A
drawing will be created within AutoCAD of all theipcipal elements and stonework, which
can be superimposed with the detail from the lasan slices.

Cross sections in east/west and north/south axebewjenerated from the laser scan data and
drawings will be produced by tracing over the pipa¢ features within AutoCAD.

Elevation slices will be extracted from the Lasears data and inserted into an AutoCAD
drawing. The main outline will be traced within A@AD but the individual stones will be
represented by the detail from the laser scan.slice

Photographic Archive:an oblique photographic record will be produceddl elevations as
well as general views of the interiors and exterioithe dock. This photographic archive will
be produced utilising a 35mm camera to produce bisitk and white contact prints as well as
digital images throughout. The archive will comprigeneral shots of the building(both
internal and external) and their surroundings agtdited coverage of architectural features.

SURVEY RESULTS

Archive: the results of Stages 3.1-3.3 above will form thasi® of a full archive to
professional standards, in accordance with curegglish Heritage guidelinesv@nagement
of archaeological project®2nd edition, 1991). The project archive represé¢mt collation and
indexing of all the data and material gatheredrduthe course of the project. The deposition
of a properly quantified, ordered, and indexed gebprchive in an appropriate repository is
considered an essential and integral element cdralaeological projects by the Institute of
Field Archaeologists in that organisation's Codé€ohduct. This archive will be provided in
the English Heritage Central Archaeology Servicemfat, as a printed document, and a
synthesis (the evaluation report and index of ttehige) will be submitted to the relevant
Sites and Monuments Record.

The archive will be formed of all the primatycumentation, including the following:
. Survey Information

. Field drawings and digital copies of CAD data

. Photographic negatives, prints and digital photplysa

. Administrative records

The survey will create a 2D plan of the dock. Theilkalso be elevations / sections from all
sides of the dock. There will also be two crosgieas through the dock.

REPORTING

The report will present, summarise, and imtgrfhe results of the programme detailed above,
and will include a full index of archaeological feees identified in the course of the project.
The reports will consist of an acknowledgementdegtant, lists of contents, summary,
introduction summarising the brief and project gasand any agreed departures from them.
The report will identify the significance of thechaeological and architectural evidence and
will include the following:

. An historical background of the dock, examiningatigins and development
. Description of the topographic context
. Results of the archaeological survey, presentedoimunction with the survey

mapping and documentary data.

. An interpretative account of the development of tesigned landscape from its
inception to the present. The report will highlighbse elements of the original
design that have either been lost or severely degra
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. A complete bibliography of sources from which tleadhas been derived, and a list
of further sources identified during the progranmwhevork.

The report will incorporate appropriate ilhasions, including copies of the site plans,
landscape survey mapping, all reduced to an apiatepscale. The site mapping will be based
upon the CAD base and the laser scan slices. Widseclude the following:

. Site location map

. Site plan

. Cross section east/west and north/ south througdalck

. Elevations

. Plans of the site incorporating cartographic sasjrpeesented as a map regression, and

also all features identified by the desk basedsassent.
. Photographs of the site and aerial photographerifnqent

Editing and submission:the report will be subject to the OA North's stramt editing
procedure and two bound and one unbound copidseakport will be submitted to Axis, one
to the Merseyside HER and one to Wirral Boroughr@du In addition to the paper copies of
the report digital copies of the report and drawinagll be submitted in PDF format.

Primary archival material, such as negatives lastorical mapping will be submitted to the
National Museums Liverpool.

GENERAL CONDITIONS
Access:it is understood that the client will ensure pedastand vehicular access to the site.

Health and Safety:full regard will, of course, be given to all corastits (services) during the
survey, as well as to all Health and Safety comatitens. The OA north Health and Safety
Statement conforms to all the provisions of the S®A (Standing Conference of Unit
Managers) Health and Safety manual. Risk assessraemtundertaken as a matter of course
for all projects. The Unit Safety Policy Statemevill be provided to the client, if required.
Survey will be excluded to any parts of the strietwhere there is no safe access available.

Confidentiality: the report is designed as a document for the spexsé of the client,, for the

particular purpose as defined in this project dgsignd should be treated as such. Any
requirement to revise or reorder the material tdynsission or presentation to third parties or
for any other explicit purpose can be fulfilled lill require separate discussion and funding.

Project Monitoring: any proposed changes to this project design willgeeed with the
client.

Insurance: the insurance in respect of claims for persorjatynto or the death of any person
under a contract of service with the unit and agsout of an in the course of such person's
employment shall comply with the employers' liagilfCompulsory Insurance) Act 1969 and
any statutory orders made there under. For allratlaéms to cover the liability of OA North,

in respect of personal injury or damage to propbytynegligence of OA North or any of its
employees, there applies the insurance cover om£fds any one occurrence or series of
occurrences arising out of one event.

WORK TIMETABLE AND RESOURCES
TIMETABLE

It is envisaged that the various stages of ghiect outlined above would follow on
consecutively, where appropriate. The phases ok would comprise:

i Desk Based Assessment
3 days

ii Laser Scanning survey
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1 day (on site)

iii Production of model and drawings
3 weeks

iv Report Production
1 week

OA North can execute projects at very shoticaconce an agreement has been signed with
the client. The survey report and drawing work Wl undertaken concurrently and the project
(field work, report and archive) is scheduled fampletion within six weeks from the
completion of the field work.

RESOURCES

The project will be under the project managemendashie Quartermaine, BA Surv Dip
MIFA (OAN Project Manager) to whom all correspondenheutd be addressed. Jamie
Quartermaine has had considerable experience ot felrvey since 1984.

It is proposed that the survey be undertakenChyis Wild. Chris is a very experienced
building surveyor who has undertaken most of the Kgkth building surveys over the last
five years.

The Laser Scanning Survey will be undertaken by AeRvices.
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Plates 1 and 2 are from the 1971-3 Aerial SurveyCbeshire (Copyright 2006
Cheshire West and Chester Council and Cheshire @astcil © All rights reserved.
Flown and captured by Hunting Surveys Ltd 1971-RBjitBlly converted by Genesys
International Ltd & The Aerial Surveyor Ltd 2005/6)
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Plate 2: Morpeth Branch Dock,1971-3

Plates 1 and 2 are from the 1971-3 Aerial Surve¥béshire (Copyright 2006 Cheshire West and
Council and Cheshire East Council © All rights mesel. Flown and captured by Hunting Surveys Ltd
1971-3. Digitally converted by Genesys Internatidrid & The Aerial Surveyor Ltd 2005/6)



Plate 3: Aeria view of Morpeth and Morpeth Branch Docks

Plate 4: Ground view of Morpeth Branch Dock



Plate 5: Morpeth Branch Dock looking east

Plate 6: North side of the dock - corresponding with Elevation 1



Plate 7: Eastern end of Morpeth Branch Dock

Plate 8: Access steps at the eastern end of the dock



Plate 9: south side of the dock

Plate 10: Detail of tidal flap chamber against the southern side of the dock





